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FCRT BEAUHARNOQIS

/

{;wugﬂwﬂléi?ort Beauharnois, although not very well known,

’ | historically, was the site of the first christian
chapel established in the present boundaries of the
State of Minnesota.(M H Q;8:4u2)

After the year 1703, owing to the hostility of
the Fox Indians, the French abandoned all their ex-
isting posts, by order of the king, in the upper
Mississippi valley. (

In 1713, PFrance yeilded to Great Britian all
the area around Hudson'e Bay, and turned its
attention to the region west of Lake Superior in

order to find a discovery of a route to the Western

Sea. (The last French Post in the Upper Mississippi

Valley near Frontenac, Minn. by E. B. Neil%)lV-V-

'During the years 1720-1721, under the auspices
of the French Government, Father Pierre Francios
Xavier de Charleviox, 8.J., visited the missions
along the Great Lakes, Canada, and Louisiana. On
hies return to France, he recommended to the government
that a mission be built to serve as a trading post
among the Sioux Indians along the Minnesota, Missiseippi,
and Missouri Rivers. Knowlddge of a possible
westward route to the pacific could be obtained -4ime
through a missionarys contact with the Indians
familiar with the far west.(Catholic Missionary
Activities in the North West by Sister M.A.Norton)
(Last French Poet in the Upper Mississippi Valley
by E. D. Neill.)

Beacause of England enmrmouching on their territory
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orders were given to establish the post among the
Sioux at once.(Aborigines of Minnetota, p.530)
In order to carry this project out, which had
been authkrized in 1723, peace had to be made with
the Indians. However, thies was finally accomplished
in 1726, and preparations were finally underway to
begin organizing the expedition.(History of the Last
French Fort-Anewspeper-artiede in the Red Wing
Republican, July 5, 1927, by Ci A. Rasmussen)(M H Q 6:362 )
On April 30, 1727, Charles de Beauharnois, Governor
General of New France, wrote a letter tod the French

Government, requesting a case of mathematicaljnstruments,
a dial plate of universal astronomy. a chain’'of

stakes, and a telescope six or seven feegl long.
This to be given to the missionaries who are to go
out with the expedition for the founding of a post
among the Sioux.(The First Sioux Miseion by Nancy
Ring-an article written in "lMid-America" July 1932
states that the governor wrote to the Mimister of
the Marine while Catholic Missionary Activities in
the Northwest states he wrote to First Lord of the Admiralty)
Finally orders were sent from Paris to Canada for
establishment of the .B8ioux miseion, and on May 14, 1726,
a memoir of the king was drawn up and sent to the
Marquis Charles de Beauharnois, telling him tog sekect
a commandmant and two missionairew for the founding
of this new establishment. The Governor apolied at
once to the SBuperior of the Jesiuts for two capable
subjects.(Actg et Dicta vol 2) (77]'/1:@(1}’}/55‘/}

Due to the fact thet the Colonial treasury was

alwaye impoverishable, and in order to finance the
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proposed Siouxan foundation, the merchants of New
France formed a commercial company.(The First Sioux
Mission by Nancy Ring) The articles of the company
were signed on June 6, 1727. They bear the signatures
of Charles de Beauharnois, Governor General of New
France, Longuevil, Governor of Montreal, and several
residents of Montreal who were interested in the
enterprise.(For complete articles of company in 1727
see Appendix A) (Hist of the Laet French Fort by C.
A. Rasmussen-wi§i8 in Red Wing Daily Republican
July 5, 1927.)

This agreement made between the governor and
the associates is quite interesting from both the

administr@tive and economic points of view. This

contract carﬁfﬁ two articles of special note conceriing

the mission and trading post.(MHQ 8:235)(Catholic
Miseiona%;;{ilh!:‘the North West by Sister M.A.Norton)
Article one granted to the members of the company,
a complete monoply of the fur trade in the Sioux country
for three full years. Section one of Article Ten,
called for the construction of a stockade fort, chapel,
one house for the commanding officer, and one for
the missionaires. The place of construction was to
be determined by the officer in chgrge.(Catholic
Missionary Activities in the NorthWest)
They were to carry free of cost for three years
any provisions and supplies for the commandmant, the
officer second in command, and the missionaries. The amounte

of the weights are stipulated in the agreement.(for
the complete articles see Appendix A)
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They also agreed to obey every order given to
them by the commanding officer, "for the kings service,
the diecipline of the Post, and the welfare of the
colony." (Hist of the last Frendh Post by C. A.

Rassmussen) Thies original contract is preserved in

the Archiveg#s of the Chicago Historical Society.(M H Q &F}B)

(The first Sioux Mission by Nanjcy Ring)

Among the many who took part in the expedition
to found tke trading post and firest mission, were, Rene
Boucher, Sieur de la Perriere, born at Three River,
Canada, in 1668,(M H C 17:67) who was chosen as commander
of the expedition. He had distinguished himself fas &
colonial officer who had led the French and Indian
Raid of 1708, which resulted in the sacking and pillaging

of Haverhill Massachujssets. He has also visited the

Bioux country in 1715. Francios Campeau,Blacksmith,

Jean Baptiste, and Francios de Montbrun,brothers,the

elder Siemr de Boucher,(M H Q 8:235)and Paul Marin,

born in Oanada, 1690, who in later years commanded

Fort Beauharnois, and later distinguished himself

as a colonial officer and died in Northwestern

Pennsylvania at Fort St.Peter, in 1753.(MHSC Vol 17 ph&7)

The missionaires chosen were Father Nicholas ﬁE Gonner,

36 years of age, born in France, 1691, died in Quebec, (MHSC
1759, and Father Michael Guignas, U6 years of age, Yol 17)
born in France, 1681, died in Quebec, 1752, who became
the journalist or historian of this first memorabile
journey. (M H 8 C Vol 17)

On June 16, 1727, & small but valient party left
Montreal on the proposed mission. On July 22, 1727, the
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party arrived at Michilmackinac. They remained there

until August 1, then joined by Father Chardon and

Sieur Reaume, who acted as interperters for the party,
traveled westward through the country of the Foxes. (Catholic
Missionary Activities in the N.W.)

After a general council with the Fox Indians

on August 15 and 16th, with Sieur Reaume, and Father

Chardon acting as the interperters, they found the
Foxes adverse to the opening of a trading post among
the Sioux. Father Chardon and Sieur Reaume, feeling
that their part was successful returned to Green Bay
and the rest of the party continued westward.(Catholic
Missionary Activities in the N.W.)

Finding the journey slow and uncertian Father
Guignas writes concerning this, " No one knew it,
and we got astray every moment on water and land,
for want of a guide and pilots." (Catholic Missionary¥
Activities in the N W by Sister M.A. Norton)

In describing the founding of the fort and chapel,
which was named, "St. Michael the Archangel", no better
description can be found than in the letter dated May
17, 1728, written to Charles de Beauharnois by the
Reverend Father Michael Guignes. This letter was
written from Fort Beauharnois and narrates as follows:

"On the 17th of September, 1727, at noon, we
reached this lake,(Pepin) which had been chosen as
the end of our voyage. We established ourselves toward
evening, about the center of the north shore upon a

low point whose soil is excellent. The wokds were
dense there, but they are already thinned on account
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of the rigor and length of the winter, which has
been severe for the climate for we are here in latitude
43 degrees 51 minutes. The day after landing, axes
were applied to the trees and four days later the
fort was entirely finished. It is a plat of ground
100 square feet, surrounded by stakes twelve feet
high with two good bastions. For such a small place
there are three large buildings detached and not
crowded, each 30, 38, and 25 feet long by 16 feet wide.

"Before the end of October,(1727) all the houses

were finished and furnished; and everyone found him-

self lodged peacg{ully in his own home. Nothing was

thought of then_to go and reconoitre the neighboring

districts and rf;ers to see those herds of faklow-deer
of all species, of which they tell such tall tales

of in Canada. They must have disappeared or greatly
diminished since the time of these former traders,

or left the country. They are no longer in such

great numbers, and it is hard to kill any.

"Af ter having wandered about the country for
sometime , everyone returned to the fort, and only
thought of enjoying the fruits of their labors. On
November 4th, (1727) it was not forgotten that this
was the fete day of Monsieur the General. Holy Mass
wae sald for him in the morning,and we were much in-
clined to celebrate the holiday in the evening; but
the slowness of the Pyrotechnist, and the changeableness
of the weather, caused the celebration to be postponed

until the 1l4th of the month, when some rockets were

fired off, and the air was made to reecund with, "Long
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live the King," and ," Long live Charles de Beauharnoie."

It was on thie occasion that the wine of the Sioux
was made to flow, and it was most excellent, akthohgh
there are né finer wines here than in Canada. What
contributed to the amusement, was the terror of some
cabins of Indians who were then around the fort. When
these poor people saw the fire-works in the air and
the stars falling from heaven, women and children

took to flight, and the most courageous men cried

for mercy, and urgently asked that this astonishing
play of this terrible medicine be made to cease.

"Ae soon ae we arrived among them they assembled
in a very few days arroundithe French fort to the
number of 95 cabins, which would amount to 150 men,
for there are at ihe most two men in their portable
cabins of dressed skins, and in many there ie only
one. These were all that we have seen, except a band
of mbout 60 men who came on Feb 26,(1728) and were
of those nations called the Bioux of the Prairies.

At the end of November,(1727) the savages departed

for their winter quarters. It ie true that they

did not go very far away, and there were always some

to be seen during the winter. But since April 2, (1728)
when several cabins repassed here to go to their

Spring hunting, none of them has been seen. One

canoe of ten men were detailed to go and find them,

they looked for a week, even for more than 60 leauges
up the Miesissippi; it arrived yeaterday without
bearing tidings of themn.

"Although I have said the Sioux were alarmed at
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the rockets, it must not be supposed that they are less

intelligent than the othe r Indigns we know. They
seem to be more s o0, at least they are much gayer,
and more open, and far more dexterous theives, great
dance rs, and great medicine men. The men are ailmost
al 1 large and well made; but the women are ve ry ugly
and disgusting.

"All would go well if the place we re not sub ject
to inundations, but this year on April 15, (1728) we
were obliged to go and camp outs ide as the wate r
rose in the houses to the height of 2 feet,8 inches,
and it is uselessuto say that it was the quantity 6%
snow that fell this year. The snow about the fort
was melted a long time before; and their was certianly
not more than a foot and a half from Feb 8, to Mar. 1§;(1728)
All the rest of the wintcer, one could not have used snow-
gshoes. I have good reasons to believe that the place is
inundated every yeaz. I always had the same opinion of it;
but they were not obliged to believe me, because old
people who said they had lived he re 15 or 20 years

asserted that it was neverrinundated. We could not

re-enteer the rathe r dilapédated houses until April

30, (1728) and even the damages are hardly repaired."

(History of the Last French Fort by C.A.Rassumusseniilij

GO in the Red Wing Republican, Julyy 5, 1927)
Due to the ill health of the commande r, beca.use

of the hardships of the winter and the spring floods,

La Perriere, was obliged to return to Quetec. He left

taking Father De Gonne r with him in the summer of 1728.

Thie left his nephew, Pierre Boucher, Sieur de Boucherville,
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age 39, in command of the fort at Lake Pepin.(The
First Sioux Mission by Nancy Ring) (History of the
Last French Fort by C. A. Rasmussen)

Despite the truce, the Fox es again started teo
molest the traders in their journeys through their
country in order to reach Fort Beauharnois, and as
a great numberrof shareholders withdre w their
holdings, Governcr Beauharnois became aroused and
he sent a large force unde r Sieur Lignery to punish
them for the ir sins. (Adta et Dicta, Vol 2) (The First
Sioux Mission by Nancy Ring)

The Foxes:zeluded the surprise attack by a force of
1200 Indians and 450 French. As Sieur Lignery realized
that the foregoing campaign was a failure, and that
Fort Beauharnois was in much danger by this action,
he dispatched two Menomonie Indians to warn Sieur
de Boucherville of his danger:r, and to take proper
measures for the safety of the post. The mes sengers
arrived at the fort on Sept 7, 1728. Immediately de
Boucherville dispatched a party to St. Anthony Falls
to induce the Sioux to take sides against the Foxes.
These negotiations failed, so on Sept 18, 1728, just
one year after the founding of the fort, a gene ral
council wos called to decide what to do, and beczuse
they were faéed with a shortage of supplies, and no

longer believed the fort tenable because of the danger

k
of Indians, decided to abandog\post. The following

day some of the traders belie ving that they could

not sell their goods else where decided to stay on.

(History of the Last French Fort by C. A. Rasmussen)
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Those thattstayed on at the fort were left unde r
the leadership of Christopher Dufrost, Sieur de la
Jemerais, 20 years of age. He was born in Canada in
1707, and died in 1736 at the age of 29.(MHSC Vol 17)
On October 3, 1728, Pierre Boucher, Fathe r Guignas,
Campeau the blacksmith, the two Montbrun brothers,
Dumais, Captain of Malitia, Bisselle, a voyageur, Menard,
and Reaume, interperters, 1l in all, started down the
Mississippli River to the Illinois River on their way
back to Montreal. They hever reached their destination
until early in 1729, as they were captured b y the
Kickapoo Indians. Before being released, they were
held captives for five months . During their
captivity they dis posed or rather gave away their
goods to the Indians as a sort of a peace offering.(See
Appendix D for a complete list of goods furnis hed
to the Indians during captivity of Pierre Bouche r
and Father Guignas) (History of the last French
Fort by C A. Rassmussen)

Those that remained during the winter of 1729=30,
appear to have written to Charles de Beauharnois asking
for additio nal supplies, but it is not known whetther
it was sent or not. The fort appears to have been

burned and destroyed by hostile Indians. (History of

the last French Fort by C A Rassmussen) (Catholic

Missionary Actities in the North West by Sister M A Norton)
On June 6, 1731, a new Sioux Company was fommed

with the idea of reoccupying the post. This company was

very similar to the first one(for complete articles see

Appendix B) in that they were given the full trading
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prive leges of the country for three years, and allowed
eight cances, with the priveleges of increasing that
nunber as the profits gre w larger. They were required
to rebuild the fort on a higher sp ot and make it 120
square feet with four goocd bastions, a chapel, a house
for the commanding officer, and one for the missiocnaires.
Rene Godefroy, Sieur de Linctot, 66 years old, was
chosen as the commander to lead the group in the re-establishment
of the fort. Father Guignas, again, was chosen as
the missionary.

The party left Montreal in the fall of 1731, -but
were unable to reach Lake Pepin that year, and wintered
on the present s ite of Trempeleau, Wisconsin. When they
arrived at the fort, they found 62 cabins of Sioux
located there. This year the new fort was located on
higher ground, on the present site of Villa Marie Convent.

The company wes granted a fourth year of trade,
because the evacuation had caused such a great loss
to them. Beauharnois emphasized the necessiity and
importance of fosteringufriendly relations with the
Indians, and in hopes of starting to trade with the
more northerm tribes, for whose trade the Hudson
Bay Company was a rival. (Last French Fort by €.A . Rasmmussen)

In 1733, no report from the Sioux country reacched
Montreal as the messenger was robbed of his reports
near Detroit. (History of the Last French Fort by
€. A. Rasmusden)

In 1784, Linctot was replaced zs commander of
the fort b y Jacques le Gardeur, Sieur de St.Pierre,

born in Canada , in 1701, died in the hattle of Lake

George, 1755, (M H S C Vol 17) who remained in charge

v

[
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until ite evacuation in 1737.(Hist of the Last
French Fort by C. A. Rasmussen)

In 1735, the beaver trade was very good.
Nearly one million good skins had been received
from this discovery of the Sea of the West.

Total receipts aggregated to 178,000 Livreg—=—-
~-a Livre being about 19 cents.(Hist of the Last
French Post by C. A. Rasmussen)

In 1736, St.Pierre and Father Guignas were
so confident that they wrote Charles de Beauharnois
saying that they had no fear of abandonment as
the Sioux were well intentioned toward the French.
However, trouble again started between the Foxes
and the Sioux and on Dec 18, 1736, the Indians
pulled up the postes of Father Guignas' garden
and burned them. In January, 1737, while the
gates of the fort were left open to cart in
wood, Forty Sioux managed to get in side. As
this was contrary to the orders of the commander,
it nearly led to serious trouble, but it was
averted. (Hist of the Last French Post by O.

A. Rasmussen)

Between the Indian uprisings and the curtailment
of their trade, they felt their position of remaining
at the post would only result in the loss of life,

so after a general council was called by Father

Guignas, Linctot, and St.Pierre, it was decided to

burn the post and sail for home. This was done on
May 30, 1737. (History of the Last French Fost by

C. A. Rasmussen)
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‘ /waCommenting on 8t.Pierre's action in evacuating the

fort, Charles de Beauharnois wrote, in a letter, to
the French Minister saying, "That the garrison had
been exposed to perishing daily." "You will see,"
he said, "that there is no likelyhood of it ever
being possible to trade with the Sioux. It would
be a great boon if we could destroy them, because
they occupy the finest hunting grounds." (History
of the Last French Post by C. A. Rasmussen)

From here in-the history of the fort grows
very vague, but whether it was due to the Indian
wars, or the lack of interest after twice having
failed, nothing ever was done about re-establishing
the fort for quite a number of years.

In the summer of 1743, a group of Siou=z
Indians came to Quebec and begged the French to
re-establish the post ,but nothing was ever done
about it. Again, in 1746, Four Sioux Cheftians
went to Quebec and asked them to resume the trade,
but all they received from the Government were
just promises. (Magazine of Western History Vol 7
P 25-article by Reverend Neill)

IN 1749, when the new governor general, LaJonquire,
found out Bbout the ennest pleadings of the Indians, he

appointed Paul Marin, Sieur de Pierre, former;ly 3

member of the first expedition to Fort Beauharnois,
and now a distinguished Colonial officeg,to take charge
of the reoccupation of the fort among the Sioux. He

He was told to try to find the source of the Mississippe
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River, to look for the Wesfern Sea, to trade with
the Indians,and establish friendly relations with
them. He stayed on until 1752, when the Government
requested his services in the east. In his place
the new governor-general, LaJonquiere,appointed
his son, Joseph LaMalgue, Sieur Marin tog take
his fathers place as commander of the post among
the 8ioux. He remained in charge until its final
abandonment in 1756. In the four years of his
service, he carried out the plans of his father.
He established peace between the Foxes, Sioux of
the Lakes, Sioux of the Praires,, Sakies, and

the Pauns. He also tried to discover copper mines
in hie travels about the country. (Wisconsin
Historical Collection, Vol 174352mi§)

After the French Surrender of Canada to the
British, Fort Beauharnois was never again
occupied.(Magazine of Western History WolVU7--article
by Reverend Neill)

In 1766, Captain Johnathon Carver, first British
traveler in this region, in connection with his travels
on Lake Pepin Waters, writes, "Here I observed the
ruins of a French factory, where Captain St.Pierre
resided and carried on a great trade with the Naudowessies,
(Sioux) before the reduction of Canada." (Hist of the
Last French Fort by C. A. Rassmussen)

In 1806, Lieutenant Z. M. Pike, U.S. Army, passed
through Lake Pepin and described the ruined post as it

would appear to him going up the lake, and in view

before reaching Point Au Sauble, as being on the west
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shore below the Point. (History of the Last French
Fort by C. A. Rasmussen)

In 1917, Major Stephen H. Long, U.8. Army, who

sailed up the river mentions anﬁllndian village on

that point, but no ruins of a fort. No doubt all
evidence had disappeared by this time.(History of
the Last French Fort by C. A. Rasmussen)

There seems to be quite a difference of opinion
as to the locations of the three different forte,
but as no evidence remains we can only take the
opinione of the different historians, and people
interested in the history of the fort.

In the rear of the lowlands of Point Au Saub,
is an eminence, of some 60 feet, which is the bluff
edge of a wide plateau, from which is an extensive
view below and above the sandy peninsula. It is the
most suitable spot in the vicinity for a stockade,
and their is evidence, in the absence of aged trees
that there had once been a clearing there. The old
Indian trail of the Bandy Point Creek, now Well's
Creek, afforded easy routes for the Sioux of the
Praires to the post.

Here 4 located on this site today is the Villa
8t. Marie Academy, a girls school conducted by the
Ursuline Sisters, whose faculty having been so closely
related to the past, has made both excavations and
a study of the old fort. (For Sister Kosta's opinions

see Apendix 0) Below the elevation on which gleams
" YA
Well?s Creek, through the overﬁtéﬁdg tangle of branches,

jutting out just beyond into the lake is Point Au
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Saub, the point on which the fort was first built.
(History of the Last French Fort By C. A. Rassmussen)

In order to link the present with the past, the
archbishop blessed the beautiful chapel of the Convent
with the invocation of St. Michael the Archangel,
undee whose patronage was erected the old chapel of
the ancient French fort on Lake Pepin. (Acta Et Dicta Vol 2)

The Goodhue County Historical Society arranged
and successfully carried into effect an appropriate
celebration at Frontenac, Minnesota, on September 17, 1927,
the two hundredth anniversary of the building of Fort
Beauharnois on the shore of Lake Pepin. The principle
feature of the program wae the unveiling of a bronze
tablet bearing this inscription, "Near this spot,
Fort Beauharnois was erected by the French in September
17, 1727. Here also stood the mission of St. Michael
the Archangel, the first christian chapel in the

present boundaries of Minnesota." (The Fiest Sioux

Mission by Nancy Ring--gu@i@® in "MId-America," July, 1932)

It is very hard for us to realize that this land
once belonged to the King of France, but not until
we get our tongues twisted around names like Frontenac,
Beauharnois, Guignas, Pepin and St.Pierre do we
realize that the very ground we hallow is rich in

hietorical background.
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